

# INTERNATIONAL FOOD POLICY RESEARCH INSTITUTE

sustainable solutions for ending hunger and poverty

Supported by the CGIAR

# **IFPRI Discussion Paper 00893**

August 2009

# Managing Future Oil Revenues in Ghana

An Assessment of Alternative Allocation Options

Clemens Breisinger Xinshen Diao Rainer Schweickert Manfred Wiebelt

**Development Strategy and Governance Division** 

## INTERNATIONAL FOOD POLICY RESEARCH INSTITUTE

The International Food Policy Research Institute (IFPRI) was established in 1975. IFPRI is one of 15 agricultural research centers that receive principal funding from governments, private foundations, and international and regional organizations, most of which are members of the Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR).

## FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTORS AND PARTNERS

IFPRI's research, capacity strengthening, and communications work is made possible by its financial contributors and partners. IFPRI gratefully acknowledges generous unrestricted funding from Australia, Canada, China, Denmark, Finland, France, Germany, India, Ireland, Italy, Japan, the Netherlands, Norway, the Philippines, Sweden, Switzerland, the United Kingdom, the United States, and the World Bank.

## AUTHOR

**Clemens Breisinger, International Food Policy Research Institute** Research Fellow, Development Strategy and Governance Division Email: <u>c.breisinger@cgiar.org</u>

**Xinshen Diao, International Food Policy Research Institute** Senior Research Fellow, Development Strategy and Governance Division

Email: <u>x.diao@cgiar.org</u>

Rainer Schweickert, Kiel Institute for the World Economy

Kiel, Germany Email: <u>rainer.schweickert@ifw-kiel.de</u>

### Manfred Wiebelt, Kiel Institute for the World Economy

Kiel, Germany Email: manfred.wiebelt@ifw-kiel.de

#### Notices

<sup>1</sup> Effective January 2007, the Discussion Paper series within each division and the Director General's Office of IFPRI were merged into one IFPRI–wide Discussion Paper series. The new series begins with number 00689, reflecting the prior publication of 688 discussion papers within the dispersed series. The earlier series are available on IFPRI's website at www.ifpri.org/pubs/otherpubs.htm#dp.

<sup>2</sup> IFPRI Discussion Papers contain preliminary material and research results. They have not been subject to formal external reviews managed by IFPRI's Publications Review Committee but have been reviewed by at least one internal and/or external reviewer. They are circulated in order to stimulate discussion and critical comment.

Copyright 2008 International Food Policy Research Institute. All rights reserved. Sections of this material may be reproduced for personal and not-for-profit use without the express written permission of but with acknowledgment to IFPRI. To reproduce the material contained herein for profit or commercial use requires express written permission. To obtain permission, contact the Communications Division at ifpri-copyright@cgiar.org.

# Contents

Acknowledgments	v
Abstract	vi
1. Introduction	1
2. A new era of oil in Ghana: new challenges for growth and macro stability	3
3. Modeling alternative oil revenue allocation options	5
4. Impacts of alternative oil revenue allocation options	8
5. Spending versus saving oil revenues: concluding remarks	17
Appendix A	18
Appendix B	21
References	27

# List of Tables

Table 1. Projection of oil production and revenues	3
Table 2. Impacts of oil revenue inflows on selected economic variables in the model simulations, wit consideration of productivity spillovers from public investments (percentage-point changes compared base-run growth rates)	hout d to 12
Table 3. Impacts of oil revenue inflows on selected economic variables in the model, with considerat of productivity spillovers from public investment in export sectors (percentage-point changes compar base-run growth rates)	ion red to 14
Table 4. Impacts of oil revenue inflows on selected economic variables in the model, with considerat of productivity spillovers from public investment in domestic sectors (percentage-point changes compared to base-run growth rates)	ion 15
Table A.1. Economic structure in the base year, Ghana, 2007	18
Table A.2. 2007 Ghana SAM	19
Table A.3. Expenditure shares and elasticities by household groups	20
Table A.4. Growth vs. accumulation: Deviation of GDP and oil fund from base run (100 million cedi constant 2007 prices)	s in 20
Table B.1. Mathematic presentation of DCGE model: sets, parameters, and variables	21
Table B.3. Mathematical presentation of DCGE model: model equations	24

# List of Figures

Figure 1. Additional spending and asset accumulation before, during, and after oil inflows (percent of	
initial GDP)	9
Figure 2. GDP plus interest on oil fund, deviation from base (percent of GDP)	16

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This paper has been prepared under IFPRI's Ghana Strategy Support Program (GSSP). We thank Kwaku Boateng (Ministry of Energy), Felix Asante (Institute of Statistical Social and Economic Research [ISSER]), Shashi Kolavalli (IFPRI-Ghana), James Sackey (IFPRI-Nigeria), Lothar Diehl (German Agency for Technical Cooperation [GTZ]), Ian Gary (Oxfam), and Sebastien Dessus (World Bank) for their comments and insightful discussions. We are most grateful to Dr. Ernest Addison (Bank of Ghana) and his team for their invitation to present a draft of this paper at a Bank of Ghana seminar on June 30 in Accra, Ghana. Comments and discussions with Bank of Ghana staff have greatly improved the paper. We also acknowledge the comments from participants at the Global Trade Analysis Project (GTAP) conference in Santiago, Chile, and from participants in a policy modeling course, organized by the University of Ghana and IFPRI, from July 12 to 25 in Accra, Ghana. Finally, we thank two anonymous reviewers for their valuable suggestions. The project was funded by USAID under its Ghana Strategy Support Program (GSSP), the German Agency for Technical Cooperation (GTZ) and the Poverty Reduction, Equity, and Growth Network (PEGNet).

# ABSTRACT

Contemporary policy debates on the macroeconomics of resource booms often concentrate on the shortrun Dutch disease effects of public expenditure, ignoring the possible long-term effects of alternative revenue-allocation options and the supply-side impact of royalty-financed public investments. In a simple model applied here, the government decides the level and timing of resource-rent spending. This model also considers productivity spillovers over time, which may exhibit a sector bias toward domestic production or exports. A dynamic computable general equilibrium (DCGE) model is used to simulate the effect of temporary oil revenue inflows to Ghana. The simulations show that beyond the short-run Dutch disease effects, the relationship between windfall profits, growth, and households' welfare is less straightforward than what the simple model of the "resource curse" suggests. The DCGE model results suggest that designing a rule that allocates oil revenues to both productivity-enhancing investments and an oil fund is crucial to achieving shared growth and macroeconomic stability.

Key words: oil fund, public expenditures, growth, Africa, Ghana, CGE analysis

### 1. INTRODUCTION

Average growth rates of 5 percent and a halving of poverty over the past two decades make Ghana a recent success story and a rising star in African development (Aryeetey and Kanbur 2008; World Bank 2008a). Yet the country remains dependent on relatively few sources of foreign exchange inflows and retains a high level of external debt (IMF 2008). Therefore, the recent discovery of offshore oil is seen by many as an opportunity to overcome persisting structural weaknesses and has raised Ghana's prospects of becoming a frontrunner in African development. However, experiences from other African countries such as Nigeria and Zambia show that properly managing resource windfalls remains a challenge for many developing countries and that misguided allocation strategies can harm the process of economic development instead of accelerating growth (Gelb and Associates 1988; Auty 1990; Rodrik 2003). Cross-country evidence confirms that countries depending heavily on natural resources tend to have less trade and foreign investment, more corruption, less equality, less political liberty, less education, less domestic investment, and less financial depth (Gylfason 2005 and Gylfason 2007).

Given this inherent risk, two extreme positions for managing oil revenue inflows can be distinguished.<sup>1</sup> Proponents of a "conservative" strategy, such as the Bank of Ghana (2007, 2008), argue that government spending of mineral windfalls often leads to excessive Dutch disease effects,<sup>2</sup> where exchange-rate appreciation and competition for domestic resources causes a reduction in the competitiveness of non-oil sectors, and corruption further undermines effective spending (Gylfason, Herbertsson, and Zoega 1999; Eifert, Gelb, and Tallroth 2002; Gelb and Turner 2007). Moreover, notoriously volatile world oil prices and the physical limitations of mineral resources compound the importance of a sound revenue-management strategy. From this perspective, the Norwegian model (essentially the saving of resource inflows in an oil fund) constitutes an important tool to phase in and out of oil-revenue spending and thus to support a balanced budget, a reduction in foreign debts, and the accumulation of savings for future generations (see, for example, Gylfason 2007; Matsen and Torvik 2005).

Advocates of a "big push" strategy argue that developing countries often run fiscal and trade deficits in development periods of rapid economic growth. Revenues from newly found oil resources therefore provide an opportunity to increase government investment to support growth. In fact, public investments that facilitate private-sector-led growth and raise productivity have been identified as an important component for many countries that transitioned rapidly from low- to middle-income status (Syrquin 1988; Collier 2006; Breisinger and Diao 2009).<sup>3</sup> In countries such as Indonesia and Chile, public investments in agriculture and rural development financed by oil and copper revenues have played an important supporting role in growth and structural transformation (Temple 2003). However, cross-country empirical evidence suggests that the impact of resource inflows critically depends on initial conditions, especially on the strength of institutions and human capital (Brunnschweiler 2008; Bulte, Damania, and Deacon 2005; Gelb and Grassman 2008).

Avoiding the resource curse and turning future oil windfalls into an opportunity to accelerate economic transformation in Ghana will therefore require sound fiscal management and a strategy that balances current government spending and savings. In this paper, we focus on the allocation of oil revenues and use a dynamic computable general equilibrium (DCGE) model to assess trade-offs between different spending and saving scenarios. The DCGE model includes different types of public spending and also introduces an oil fund. To calibrate the model's baseline (2009 to 2027), we draw information from the International Monetary Fund's (IMF's) current account, government balance, and interest

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> For a comprehensive overview of these and intermediate positions, see van der Ploeg (2006).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> There is broad agreement that strong appreciation of the real exchange rate hurt the competitiveness of export sectors. However, Matsen and Torvik (2005) show that some real appreciation might be optimal, given the inflow of resources and the potential to change the growth path of the economy.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The case studies included in Collier and Gunning (1998a, 1998b) center on the savings response of public and private agents when faced with trade shocks.

payments projections. We then use the oil revenue projections of the IMF and the Institute of Social and Statistical Economic Research (ISSER), a local think tank, to assess the trade-offs between macroeconomic stability and productivity-enhancing public investments. As two extreme cases, we consider a scenario in which the government spends all oil revenues it receives annually and a scenario in which the government spends all oil fund and spends only the interest earned from the fund. We also introduce an allocation rule, which allows smoothing of oil-revenue spending, whereby a part of the oil revenue in each period is saved for future government spending, thereby balancing current and future government spending.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows. Section 2 provides an overview of the size of the future oil sector in the Ghanaian economy and discusses related opportunities and challenges in terms of balancing growth acceleration and macroeconomic stability. Section 3 introduces the DCGE model used for this study, and Section 4 presents the allocation of oil revenues and the potential impact of this allocation together with the model simulation results. Section 5 summarizes and concludes.

# 2. A NEW ERA OF OIL IN GHANA: NEW CHALLENGES FOR GROWTH AND MACRO STABILITY

Oil was discovered off the coast of Ghana in 2007, with total reserves estimated at between 500 million and 1.5 billion barrels and the potential for future government revenues estimated at US\$1–1.5 billion annually (Table 1). Even at a modest long-term oil price of US\$60 per barrel over the next 20 years, oil revenues will add around 30 percent to government income and will constitute between 6 and 9 percent of gross domestic product (GDP) annually over the period of exploitation. While the relative amount of expected oil revenue is smaller than in other resource-rich countries, the positive shock does provide new opportunities to further accelerate growth and speed up economic transformation. Prospects are further raised by Ghana's sound institutional record.

	2010	2015	2020	2025	2030
Barrels per day (in 1,000s)	120	250	250	250	250
Barrels per year (365 days)	43,800	91,250	91,250	91,250	91,250
Oil value (per day, in 1,000s)					
US\$60 per barrel	7,200	15,000	15,000	15,000	15,000
US\$80 per barrel	9,600	20,000	20,000	20,000	20,000
Oil value (per year, in 1,000s)					
US\$60 per barrel	2,628,000	900,000	900,000	900,000	900,000
US\$80 per barrel	3,504,000	7,300,000	7,300,000	7,300,000	7,300,000
Government revenue per day (in 1,	000 cedis)				
US\$60 per barrel	2,750	5,730	5,730	5,730	5,730
US\$80 per barrel	3,667	7,640	7,640	7,640	7,640
Government revenue per year (in 1	,000 cedis)				
US\$60 per barrel	1,003,896	1,343,800	1,343,800	1,343,800	1,343,800
US\$80 per barrel	1,338,528	2,788,600	2,788,600	2,788,600	2,788,600

### Table 1. Projection of oil production and revenues

Source: Osei and Domfe (2008)

Compared with other African countries in which oil or other natural resources have been discovered in the past, current conditions in Ghana seem favorable to avoiding the resource curse. First, Ghana has experience in managing resource windfalls. Gold and cocoa have been the most important export commodities throughout the country's entire modern history. After the structural adjustment program implemented in the mid-1980s, the country has finally reached macroeconomic stability, and these favorable macroeconomic conditions, together with other pro-growth and pro-poor strategies, have led to steady growth and rapid poverty reduction over the past 20 years.

Second, politically, Ghana has become a stable democratic state, as demonstrated by peaceful transitions of power in two consecutive free and fair elections, in 2000 and 2008. Third, the governance indicators reported by the World Bank show that Ghana has been steadily improving its governance, and in 2007 the country ranked above the regional averages for Asia, Latin America, and Africa in most important governance indicators, such as government effectiveness, regulatory quality, and control of corruption (World Bank 2008b; Kaufmann, Kraay, and Mastruzzi 2008).

Yet several growth-, equity-, and macrostability-related challenges must still be addressed before Ghana can achieve its development goals. The country aims to become a middle-income country by 2015, and achieving this development goal will require annual growth rates of around 7 percent over the next 10 years (NDPC 2005; Breisinger, Diao, and Thurlow 2009). While this goal seems reasonable given the size of expected oil revenues, this growth requirement is higher than the growth rates that the country has achieved in recent years under favorable international conditions. In addition, the large share of agriculture in GDP (about 40 percent), the high share of agriculture-related processing in manufacturing (about 60 percent), and the high share of the population working in agriculture (about 70 percent) indicate that without Green Revolution–type agricultural growth as a main driver, Ghana may well fail to achieve such rapid growth (Breisinger et al. 2008).

The pattern of current growth reveals certain weaknesses in promoting private investment, generating more employment opportunities, and encouraging economic diversification. The distribution of growth benefits has also started to show warning signs, as income growth in lagging northern regions does not match the fast growth in the coastal regions (Aryeetey and Kanbur 2008).

Lessons from other countries, and from Ghana's own history, show that maintaining macroeconomic stability is crucial for sustainable growth (Bank of Ghana 2007, 2008). Before implementation of the structural adjustment program in the mid-1980s, inefficient public expenditure schemes, overvalued exchange rates, trade protection, and an oversized public sector held Ghana back from transforming its economy (Agyeman Duah, Soyinka, and Kelly 2008). While Ghana also benefited from the Highly Indebted Poor Countries (HIPC) debt relief in 2002 to restore macroeconomic balance (IMF 2008), new debt has started to reaccumulate recently due to rapidly increasing fiscal deficits. The fiscal deficit constituted about 3 percent of GDP in 2005, yet it is expected to reach more than 10 percent in 2009 (IMF 2008). The IMF estimates that public debt will rise to more than 50 percent of GDP in 2009, and other sources' estimations are even higher (EIU 2009). Osei and Domfe (2008) argue that the food and energy crisis is the reason for part of the additional spending. Other sources emphasize the sharp increase in recurrent spending (especially for civil servants' wages) and the stagnation of the share of investment in spending (EIU 2009).

Reducing these high deficits to 5 percent of GDP would require an average annual growth rate of 7.7 percent to stabilize total public debt at 65 percent of GDP. Therefore, oil revenues must help sustain a high spending-to-GDP ratio and will not be available for additional spending.<sup>4</sup> Hence, using these revenues to spur productivity-led growth is critical to achieving growth and sustainable debt levels in the long run. Striking the right balance between growth and macroeconomic stability in the spending of oil revenues will therefore be a key challenge. In the following section we describe a model to address the question of what this balance might look like.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> For more details, see Breisinger et al. (2009).

## 3. MODELING ALTERNATIVE OIL REVENUE ALLOCATION OPTIONS

The ability to capture synergies, trade-offs, and linkages between macroeconomic balances and growth at the sector and household level have made general equilibrium models an important tool to analyze the impacts of resource booms. In this paper, we therefore use a recursive DCGE model for Ghana. While this model does not attempt to make precise predictions about the future development of the Ghanaian economy, it does measure the trade-offs between the alternative options of saving and spending oil revenues.

The DCGE model is constructed consistent with the neoclassical general equilibrium theory. The theoretical background and the analytical framework of CGE models have been well documented in Dervis, de Melo, and Robinson (1982), while the detailed mathematical presentation of a static CGE model is described in Lofgren, Harris, and Robinson (2002). A full description of the DCGE model from which our Ghana model is developed can be found in Thurlow (2004). The equations and parameters are presented in Appendix B.

The Ghana DCGE model is an economywide, multisectoral model that solves simultaneously and endogenously for both quantities and prices of a series of economic variables. On the supply side, the model defines specific production functions for each economic activity. Assumptions that are made before calibrating the model to the data include constant returns to scale technology with constant elasticity of substitution (CES) between primary inputs. This is a necessary assumption for the model to reach a general equilibrium solution. For the substitution between primary and intermediate inputs in the production functions, we assume a Leontief technology.

The demand side of the DCGE model is dominated by a series of consumer demand functions. This demand system is derived from well-defined utility functions. In our model, the consumer demand functions are solved from a Stone-Geary type of utility function in which the income elasticity deviates from 1 (which is a typical assumption in a Cobb-Douglas type of utility function), and hence the marginal budget share of each good consumed differs from its respective average budget share. As in other general equilibrium models, consumers' income that enters the demand system is an endogenous variable in our model. Income generated from the primary factors employed in the production process is the dominating income source for consumers, while the model also considers incomes from abroad (as remittance received) or the government (as direct transfers).

The DCGE model explicitly models the relationship between supply and demand, which determines the equilibrium prices in domestic markets. To capture the linkages between the domestic and international markets, the model assumes price-sensitive substitution (imperfect substitution) between foreign goods and domestic production.<sup>5</sup> While the linkages between demand and supply through changes in income (an endogenous variable) and productivity (often an exogenous variable) are the most important general equilibrium interactions in an economywide model, production linkages also occur across sectors through intermediate demand and competition for primary factors employed in production sectors.

The model has a neoclassical closure in which total domestic investment is determined by the sum of private, public (budget surplus), and foreign savings (current account deficit), net of public savings abroad in the natural resource funds. Public investment is assumed to be a fixed proportion of overall domestic investment, while private investment is constrained by total savings net of public investment, where household savings propensities are exogenous. This rule, broadly consistent with conditions in developing countries where unrationed access to world capital markets is virtually zero and domestic private saving is relatively interest inelastic, means that any shortfall in government savings relative to the cost of government capital formation, net of exogenous foreign savings, directly crowds out private investment (and any excess in government savings directly crowds in private investment).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Appendix Table A.1 provides selected indicators of the export orientation of individual sectors and the import dependence of domestic demand, together with information on sectoral production and employment structure.

The model has a simple recursively dynamic structure. Each solution run tracks the economy over the period 2007 to 2027, in which each period also corresponds to a fiscal year. While public and private capital stocks are fixed within each year, they accumulate over time. Capital accumulation is affected both by savings (particularly for private capital accumulation) and government decisions regarding the allocation of public funds. Investment (and hence capital accumulation) is also affected by the foreign inflow of capital, in which new oil revenues become an important component in the simulations. Distribution of increased capital across sectors is determined by the relative return to sector capital, and such returns are the endogenous variables in a general equilibrium model. Specifically, the accumulation of sectoral capital stock is defined as follows:

$$\mathbf{K}_{i,t} = \mathbf{K}_{i,t,j}(1-\mu_i) + \Delta \mathbf{K}_{i,t,j} \tag{1}$$

where  $K_{i,t}$  is the capital stock,  $\mu_i$  is the rate of depreciation that is sector specific, and t-j measures the gestation lag on investment. In the simulations presented below, the default setting is j = 1, although the effects of assuming that public investment augments the stock of infrastructure capital only with a longer lag may also be examined.

The model also considers the effects of public investment on productivity as an externality factor resulting from public investment in infrastructure. Public investment is assumed to generate a Hicks-neutral improvement in total factor productivities. Specifically, the shift parameter in the production function,  $A_i$ , changes corresponding to the accumulation of public capital, that is,

$$A_{s,t} = \underline{A}_{s} \cdot \Pi_{g} \{ (K_{t}^{g}/K_{0}^{g}) / (Q_{s,t}/Q_{s,0}) \}_{sg}^{\rho}$$
(2)

where g denotes a set of public capital stocks generally defined over infrastructure, health, and education,  $K^g$  and  $Q_s$  are the public capital stocks and sectoral output levels under the simulation experiment, and  $K^g_0$  and  $Q_{s,0}$  are the correspondingly defined public capital stocks and output levels in the base period. The terms  $\rho_{sg}$  determine the extent of the spillovers of public investment to total factor productivities. If  $\rho_{sg} = 0$ , there is no spillover from public investment in infrastructure, health, and education. The higher  $\rho_{sg}$ , the higher the spillover effect.

We calibrate this model to a new 2007 social accounting matrix (SAM) for Ghana, which is based on a 2005 SAM documented in IFPRI 2007. To update this SAM to 2007, we use national accounts provided by Ghana Statistical Services (GSS) for 2007, balance of payments data provided by the Bank of Ghana, and government budget data provided by the Ministry of Finance. The newly developed SAM provides information on the demand and production structure of eight sectors, including two agricultural subsectors (domestic and export), four industrial subsectors (mining, manufacturing, utilities, construction), and two service subsectors (private and public). The SAM and hence the DCGE model consider the existence of three different types of factors—labor, capital, and land—from which rural and urban households derive their income (see Appendix Table A.2).

In addition to the SAM, the main elasticities include the substitution elasticity between primary inputs in the production function, the elasticity between domestically produced and consumed goods and exported or imported goods, and the income elasticity in the demand functions. We use the same CES elasticity of 0.75 in the production function of all individual sectors and for all pairs of production factors, which is drawn from the CGE literature on other African countries. The other parameters or coefficients in the production functions of the model (e.g., the marginal product of each input) can be directly calibrated using the country data of the Ghana SAM (e.g., the share of value-added for each input used in the total value-added of this sector).

For the use of intermediate inputs in the production function, we use a Leontief technology. With this assumption, a set of fixed input-output coefficients can be directly derived using the data of the Ghana SAM. With a Stone-Geary type of utility function applied in the model, the marginal budget share (MBS) is the parameter applied in the demand system, which can be derived from the SAM given that the income elasticity of demand is known. The income elasticity is estimated from a semi-log inverse

function suggested by King and Byerlee (1978) and based on the data of Ghana Living Standard Survey (GLSS5 2005/06). The estimated results, together with the average budget share (ABS) for each individual commodity consumed by each individual household group directly calculated using the data of the Ghana SAM, provide a series of MBSs that are applied in the model (see Appendix Table A.3).

For commodities that are sold both domestically and abroad, a constant elasticity of transformation (CET) function is applied, while for commodities that have both domestic and foreign supply, a constant elasticity of substitution (CES) or Armington function is used. To reflect the relative openness of Ghana's economy, we chose high values, of 4.0, for both the CET and Armington elasticity for all traded goods.

# 4. IMPACTS OF ALTERNATIVE OIL REVENUE ALLOCATION OPTIONS

We use this model to assess the medium- and long-term impacts of four alternative oil revenue allocation options. This section first describes the scenarios in greater detail and then discusses the core results and sensitivity results.

#### Scenarios

The DCGE model is first applied to a scenario (the base run) in which the sectoral-level growth rate is consistent with the growth trends observed in recent years (between 2001 and 2007). Newly found oil is not considered in this scenario. Along this business-as-usual growth path, Ghana's economy will continue to grow at an annual rate of 5.6 percent until 2027.

Oil extraction will be conducted offshore, and the linkages to the domestic economy are expected to be very weak. Backward linkages will be restricted by the lack of local capacity to provide the highly technology-, capital-, and skill-intensive inputs required for setting up and running oil extraction businesses (Seminar at the Bank of Ghana on June 30, 2009, and personal interview with Ministry of Energy, July 1, 2009). Forward linkages are also likely to be limited, since Ghana does not currently have refining capacities and oil is expected to be exported as crude oil. The most important effect from oil extraction in Ghana will therefore be the royalties and taxes paid by the consortium of oil companies.<sup>6</sup> Accordingly, we model the oil boom as an increase in foreign exchange revenues to the government in the model.

We then develop four policy scenarios in which oil revenue as part of new foreign inflows to the government account is equivalent to 8.5 percent of GDP in 2007 (the base year in the model).<sup>7</sup> This projection of oil revenues is based on Osei and Domge from ISSER (2008), which has been summarized in Table 1 above.

Total oil revenues are then modeled as foreign inflows, which are either exclusively used to finance increased public investment (scenario 1) or are allocated as savings into an interest-earning external oil fund (scenario 2).<sup>8</sup> Interests and revaluation gains (and losses) earned from such savings are used to finance public investments in scenario 2.<sup>9</sup> Scenarios 3 and 4 examine the combination of these two extreme cases, in which only part of the royalties are saved in the oil fund following different allocation rules. Finally, variations of these four basic scenarios investigate the cases in which public investment not only increases the overall capital stock, but in addition raises total factor productivity in export-oriented sectors (scenarios 1a–4a) or domestic sectors (scenarios 1b–4b).

Designs of these scenarios are based on some other countries' practices. In order to guard against the destabilizing impacts of swings in public expenditure, certain fiscal rules have proved useful in anchoring long-term fiscal policy and in ensuring that windfall revenues are saved as a cushion against future adverse shocks. The best-known example of successful fiscal rules is Norway (Larsen 2006), where spending effects are controlled by the government shielding the economy through fiscal discipline and investments abroad. Accumulating oil revenues in an oil fund would allow the fiscal budget to be supported by a moderate but permanent income stream stemming from interest on these assets. Saving at least part of the oil revenues would therefore provide some support to the budget, while at the same time moderating real appreciation and building up assets for buffering future shocks to foreign exchange inflows and/or fiscal revenues. Accordingly, the government of Ghana has proposed the establishment of some form of permanent income fund. However, the details of this plan, in terms of what proportion to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The consortium of oil companies comprises Tullow Oil, Kosmos Energy, and several other small-scale operators.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> We adopt the—from the current perspective—more optimistic view that oil prices will average US\$80 per barrel over the simulation period. However, assuming a lower oil price will not change the general direction of the results.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> We do not consider the case in which royalties are used to finance additional recurrent public expenditure, although a higher public capital stock might provide a case for additional expenditure.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Since we assume that oil revenues are invested abroad, interest revenue also includes revaluation gains and losses.

save and what proportion to spend, do not yet seem to be determined, and the public consultation process has remained limited.

To help in understanding the design of the scenarios, we first provide a simple model to formalize the allocation between government savings and spending, assuming that the government follows a fiscal rule to allocate oil revenues either to the fiscal budget or to an oil fund. In this case, total (additional) government spending in the current period is given by

totgovspen d<sub>t</sub> = 
$$a_1 \cdot \text{oilrev}_t + \text{withdraw}_t$$
  
=  $a_1 \cdot \text{oilrev}_t + a_2 \cdot \text{oilfund}_{t-1}$  (3)

With  $0 < a_1, a_2 < 1$ , the two parameters determine how much of current oil revenues (oilrev) are allocated into the fiscal budget ( $a_1$ ) and how much are added from accumulated assets (withdraw) out of an oil fund ( $a_2$ ). The accumulation of assets in the oil fund are, in turn, given by the stock of assets in the previous period that increase due to savings out of current oil revenues and decrease due to withdrawals because of additional government spending:

oilfund<sub>t</sub> = oilfund<sub>t-1</sub> + (1- 
$$a_1$$
) oilrev<sub>t</sub> -  $a_2$  · oilfund<sub>t-1</sub>  
= (1-  $a_2$ ) oilfund<sub>t-1</sub> + (1-  $a_1$ ) oilrev<sub>t</sub>.<sup>10</sup> (4)

The implications of this simple rule are shown in Figure 1, where we assumed an inflow on oil revenues of 10 each period, starting in period 4 and lasting until period 20. As can be seen, the fiscal rule smoothes the impact of oil revenues on the fiscal budget where the "spending" parameter  $a_1$  determines the (positive) shock at the beginning of oil revenue inflows and the "stretching" parameter  $a_2$  determines the live time of the oil fund. For our model simulations we adopted an intermediate parameter constellation (0.5/0.15) with a spending parameter allocating 50 percent of current oil revenues into the fiscal budget, an amount that is topped up by withdrawals of 15 percent of the oil fund stock in the previous period.

# Figure 1. Additional spending and asset accumulation before, during, and after oil inflows (percent of initial GDP)



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Equations (3) and (4) imply that the government decides on net savings out of oil revenues in each period. For the formulation of the allocation rule in terms of net savings, see Breisinger et al. (2009). For an application to aid inflows, see Adam et al. (2008).

#### Figure 1. (Continued)



Source: Authors' calculation for a simulated inflow of oil revenue of 10 units from period 3 to 20. Simulations show parameter combinations of  $a_{1/}a_2$  (see equations 3 and 4 in the text).

In terms of equations (3) and (4), we evaluate the following alternative scenarios:

OIL1: all oil revenues are spent, i.e.,	$a_1 = 1$ , and $a_1 = 0$
OIL2: all oil revenues are saved, i.e.,	$a_1 = 0$ , and $a_2 = 0$
OIL3: a 5 percent budget support, i.e.,	$a_1 = 0.05 \text{ x } GDP/OIL$ , and $a_1 = 0$
OIL4: smoothing oil-revenue spending, in which	$a_1 = 0.5$ , and $a_2 = 0.15$

In the next step, we design four scenarios to measure the direct and indirect effects of oil revenues that stem from additional public spending or savings, ignoring possible spillover effects of public investments on productivity growth in the economy. Thus, we develop two additional sets of scenarios to evaluate the joint effect of an increase in oil revenues that leads to productivity growth. In scenarios 1a-4a the productivity spillover effects are assumed to occur in the export-oriented sectors, while in scenarios 1b-4b such spillover effects are assumed to occur in the domestic sectors. For example, public investment in telecommunications infrastructure, trade fairs, and so on is likely to affect the production of tradable goods, while the provision and maintenance of rural roads, the funding of agricultural research, or the establishment of local marketplaces increases productivity in the domestic sectors. Given that there is very little empirical consensus on the size of the productivity effects of infrastructure investments in developing economies, we assume a value of 0.5 for the spillover parameter in equation (2), that is,  $\rho_{sg}$  = 0.50 in both cases.<sup>11</sup> This value is comparably higher than the values estimated by Hulten (1996), who studies the relationship of infrastructure capital and economic growth. This higher value reflects in part the expectation of a higher marginal product of public capital for countries with a severely depleted capital stock and in part the likelihood that the contemporary marginal productivity of public infrastructure expenditure in Ghana may be higher than the historical point estimates suggest.

For each scenario, the average annual changes for selected variables over three periods (2007–2009, 2007–2013, and 2007–2027) are reported. To simplify the presentation, we report only a small number of key aggregate variables in tables: the real exchange rate, total and sectoral exports, real GDP, total and government fixed investment, and real consumption of rural and urban households. At given

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> This implies that a 10 percent rise in total public capital stock relative to sectoral output induces a 5 percent increase in total factor productivity.

constant income-tax rates and given savings rates, the changes in real consumption reflect changes in real disposable income.

# OIL1: A "Spend All" Strategy Fosters Growth, yet Leads to Dutch Disease Effects and Hurts Rural Households

In scenario 1, the primary impact of oil revenues is an increase in public investment, which leads to a higher level of real GDP growth in both the short and medium term compared to the baseline (see Table 2). The real exchange rate appreciates modestly in the short run, which is mainly due to the assumed high adjustment flexibility in foreign trade and domestic factor markets. However, increases in investment demand induce significant changes in the terms of trade and a sizable contraction in exports in favor of higher production of domestic goods.

These Dutch disease effects weaken over time, yet the effect of relative price changes on the cost of capital goods persists. This implies that although these changes moderate over time, the initial decline in export performance does not reverse drastically, and hence initial welfare gains increase only slightly in the long run.

Total household income increases in real terms from the base run, yet the gains are not distributed equally across household groups. While the income levels of urban households increase, rural household incomes fall in the short run and remain largely unchanged in the long run. The main reason for these increasing disparities between rural and urban households is demand-side effects. Additional government investment is primarily spent on capital goods and construction, raising the relative prices for these mainly urban sectors. Moreover, the backward linkages from these urban industrial sectors to the agricultural sectors, from which many rural households earn their income, are weak. In addition, the agricultural export sector is hurt by exchange rate appreciation, which exacerbates the negative effects for rural households. As later results show, these demand-side effects may be largely offset when oil revenues are used for productivity-enhancing investments but may reemerge and increase when relative price effects turn against agriculture.

## OIL2: A "save all and Invest Interest Only" Strategy has very Limited Growth Effects

In scenarios 2–4, all or part of the oil revenues are saved in an oil fund (as foreign assets) and only interest earned from the fund is used to finance investments. In scenario 2, a moderate but permanent income stream generated from interest earnings finances additional investment of a modest 1.7 and 1.4 percentage points in the short and long run, respectively. Thus, there is now less cumulative growth in GDP both in the short and long term and a marked reduction in total investment compared to scenario 1. As a consequence, relative price changes are less pronounced in the short run but increase over time with increasing income from interest. Total exports decline in the short run but increase in the long run, compared with the baseline. However, the changes are significantly smaller than in scenario 1.

The short- and long-run effects on household incomes are significantly smaller than in scenario 1. Savings to create the oil fund largely avoid the short-run reduction of rural households' income. In the long run, rural households' income is not affected by the decision to either spend or save oil revenues, indicating the need for more targeted spending to raise rural households' income.

Experiment	Period	BASE	OIL1	OIL2	OIL3	OIL4
			Spending	Saving	Budget Support	Smoothing
Exchange rate	to T = 2009	0				
	to T = 2013	-0.1	-0.2	0	-0.1	-0.2
	to T = 2027	-0.2	-0.2	-0.1	-0.1	-0.2
Exports	to T = 2009	5.7				
	to T = 2013	5.9	-4.6	-0.7	-1.9	-3.5
	to T = 2027	7.1	1.1	0.3	0.7	1
Agriculture	to T = 2009	7.5				
	to T = 2013	6.6	-5.3	-0.7	-2.5	-3.9
	to T = 2027	3.3	-3.3	-1.7	-2.7	-3.1
Mining	to T = 2009	4.3				
	to T = 2013	5.9	-4.3	-0.9	-1.7	-3.5
	to T = 2027	9.9	2.1	0.9	1.5	1.9
Services	to T = 2009	4.2				
	to T = 2013	3.9	-3	-0.5	-1.4	-2.2
	to T = 2027	2.9	-1.3	-0.7	-1.1	-1.2
Real GDP	to T = 2009	4.6				
	to T = 2013	4.8	0.6	0.1	0.3	0.4
	to T = 2027	5.4	0.7	0.4	0.6	0.7
Investment	to T = 2009	6.1				
	to T = 2013	6.2	9	1.7	4.4	7.1
	to T = 2027	6.8	2.1	1.4	2	2.1
Government inve	estment					
	to T = 2009	6.3				
	to T = 2013	6.4	16.8	17	16.9	16.9
	to T = 2027	7.1	3.4	3.6	3.6	3.5
Real income						
Rural	to T = 2009	3.9				
	to T = 2013	3.9	-0.4	0	-0.2	-0.3
	to T = 2027	4.1	0	0	0	0
Urban	to T = 2009	5.2				
	to T = 2013	5.4	0.8	0.1	0.4	0.6
	to T = 2027	6	0.5	0.3	0.4	0.5
Real wage	to T = 2009	1.9				
	to T = 2013	2.2	1.2	0.1	0.5	0.9
	to T = 2027	2.8	0.8	0.4	0.6	0.7

Table 2. Impacts of oil revenue inflows on selected economic variables in the model simulations, without consideration of productivity spillovers from public investments (percentage-point changes compared to base-run growth rates)

Source: DCGE model results

# OIL3: Supporting the Budget with Oil Revenues Stabilizes the Debt Ratio, yet Only Modestly Accelerates Growth Due to Dutch Disease Effects

While scenarios 1 and 2 represent two extreme cases of oil revenue allocation, scenarios 3 and 4 consider a strategy in which the government decides to save only part of oil revenues in the oil fund. In the case of scenario 3, we assume that, starting with the inflows of oil revenues in 2010, an oil revenue equivalent of 5 percent of GDP is retained to support the public budget. Compared to scenario 2, this allocation rule results in both increasing savings in the oil fund and increasing investment until 2013. As expected, an increase in investment demand results in a worsening of the terms of trade in the short term, with the above-mentioned consequences. After 2013, with stagnant oil revenues but increasing GDP, savings deposited into the oil fund decrease steadily. However, increasing interest revenue from the oil fund still allows for an increase in investment and GDP growth over the whole simulation period. Impacts are comparable to those of scenario 1, yet with less short-run adjustment cost for rural households.

# OIL4: In the Long Run, Smoothing Oil-Revenue Spending Balances Growth, Distribution, and Stability Targets

The allocation rule in scenario 4 implies that savings in the oil fund increase with rising oil revenues and decrease with a rise in savings stocks. Thus, given the parameterization indicated above, savings in the oil fund increase between 2010 and 2013 and start decreasing thereafter, until 2027. The long-run macroeconomic, sectoral, and distributional outcomes are comparable to those of scenario 1, in which all oil revenues are immediately invested as they flow in. However, compared to spending oil revenues immediately (scenario 2), saving part of the revenues in an oil fund has the obvious advantage of providing income from interest, even after the oil boom. In addition, the short-run adjustment costs with respect to exports and rural incomes are significantly lower than in the spending scenario.

## Robustness Check: Productivity Improvements Due to Investments Accelerate Growth and Can Offset Dutch Disease Effects

In scenarios 1a–4a and 1b–4b, public investments raise the productivity in the economy. The absence of productivity increases in domestic production (in 1a–4a) leads to a stronger appreciation of the real exchange rate compared to scenarios 1–4 (see Table 3). Hence, although the export performance of traditional cash crops and services is significantly stronger because of the productivity bias, mining exports are hit relatively hard, with no productivity effect. When the productivity gain is biased toward production of domestic goods (in 1b–4b), outcomes are markedly different (Table 4). The bias in production (which increases the supply of nontradables and import substitutes) partly offsets the demand effects of the increased foreign exchange inflows so that the initial real exchange rate appreciation is reversed, even in the short run. Yet the effects on exports are less affected and mining exports recover less than in earlier experiments. Overall export performance is weaker with a domestic bias than with an export bias. The domestic-biased supply response also leads to a larger improvement in the long-run fiscal balance, reflecting favorable relative price movements as well as the effects of higher growth and investment than in either the case without productivity effects or export-biased forms of productivity growth.

The most striking difference between scenarios 1a–4a and 1b–4b is the effect on households' disposable real income. Compared to the case of no productivity effects, productivity effects induced by public investment lead to higher real income growth for both household groups. However, the income gain is spread somewhat differently across household groups, with rural households benefitting less than urban households when productivity effects are biased toward domestic production. This contrasts sharply with the export-biased supply response, which generates a lower aggregate real income gain in the long run but favors rural households.

Experiment	Period	BASE	OIL1	OIL2	OIL3	OIL4
			Spending	Saving	Budget Support	Smoothing
Exchange rate	to T = 2009	0	0.1			
	to T = 2013	-0.1	-0.5	0	-0.2	-0.3
	to T = 2027	-0.2	-0.1	-0.1	-0.1	-0.1
Exports	to T = 2009	5.7	-0.2			
	to T = 2013	5.9	-1.5	-0.7	-0.7	-1.3
	to T = 2027	7.1	0.9	-0.2	0.4	0.7
Agriculture	to T = 2009	7.5	-1.6			
	to T = 2013	6.6	-1.8	-0.9	-1.2	-1.6
	to T = 2027	3.3	2.9	2.5	2.7	2.8
Mining	to T = 2009	4.3	0.9			
	to T = 2013	5.9	-1.2	-0.5	-0.5	-1.1
	to T = 2027	9.9	-0.1	-1.4	-0.7	-0.2
Services	to T = 2009	4.2	0.7			
	to T = 2013	3.9	-1.9	-0.6	-0.2	-1.3
	to T = 2027	2.9	2.6	0.3	2.4	2.5
Real GDP	to T = 2009	4.6	0			
	to T = 2013	4.8	1.2	0.1	0.6	0.9
	to T = 2027	5.4	0.9	0.3	0.7	0.8
Investment	to T = 2009	6.1	0			
	to T = 2013	6.2	9.1	1.7	4.8	7.2
	to T = 2027	6.8	2.3	1.4	2.1	2.3
Government inve	stment					
	to T = 2009	6.3	0.1			
	to T = 2013	6.4	16.9	17	16.9	16.9
	to T = 2027	7.1	3.5	3.7	3.7	3.6
Real income						
Rural	to T = 2009	3.9	0			
	to T = 2013	3.9	0.4	0	0.2	0.3
	to T = 2027	4.1	0.5	0.1	0.4	0.5
Urban	to T = 2009	5.2	0			
	to T = 2013	5.4	1.3	0.1	0.6	0.9
	to $T = 2027$	6	0.4	0	0.3	0.4
Real wage	to T = 2009	1.9	0			
-	to T = 2013	2.2	1.8	0.1	0.8	1.3
	to T = 2027	2.4	1.4	0.8	1.2	1.4

Table 3. Impacts of oil revenue inflows on selected economic variables in the model, with consideration of productivity spillovers from public investment in export sectors (percentage-point changes compared to base-run growth rates)

Source: DCGE model results

Experiment	Period	BASE	OIL1	OIL2	OIL3	OIL4
			Spending	Saving	Budget Support	Smoothing
Exchange rate	to T = 2009	0	0			
-	to T = 2013	-0.1	0	0.1	0.1	0.1
	to T = 2027	-0.2	0	0	0	0
Exports	to T = 2009	5.7	-0.1			
	to T = 2013	5.9	-5.1	-0.8	-2.2	-3.9
	to T = 2027	7.1	0.8	0.1	0.4	0.7
Agriculture	to T = 2009	7.5	0.1			
	to T = 2013	6.6	-5.8	-0.8	-2.7	-4.2
	to T = 2027	3.3	-3.5	-1.9	-2.9	-3.4
Mining	to T = 2009	4.3	-0.1			
	to T = 2013	5.9	-5.2	-1.1	-2.1	-4.2
	to T = 2027	9.9	1.7	0.6	1.1	1.6
Services	to T = 2009	4.2	0.1			
	to $T = 2013$	3.9	-2.7	-0.3	-1.2	-2
	to T = 2027	2.9	-1.2	-0.6	-0.9	-1.1
Real GDP	to T = 2009	4.6	0.1			
	to T = 2013	4.8	0.9	0.1	0.5	0.7
	to T = 2027	5.4	1	0.6	0.8	1
Investment	to T = 2009	6.1	0			
	to T = 2013	6.2	9	1.7	4.7	7.1
	to T = 2027	6.8	1.1	1.5	2.1	2.2
Government invest	stment					
	to T = 2009	6.3	0.1			
	to T = 2013	6.4	17.1	17.1	17.1	17.2
	to T = 2027	7.1	3.7	4	3.9	3.8
Real income						
Rural	to T = 2009	3.9	0			
	to T = 2013	3.9	-0.1	0	0	-0.1
	to T = 2027	4.1	0.3	0.2	0.2	0.3
Urban	to T = 2009	5.2	0.1			
	to T = 2013	5.4	1.1	0.2	0.6	0.8
	to T = 2027	6	0.9	0.5	0.7	0.8
Real wage	to T = 2009	1.9	0.3			
	to T = 2013	2.2	1.7	0.2	0.8	1.2
	to T = 2027	2.8	1.2	0.7	1	1.2

Table 4. Impacts of oil revenue inflows on selected economic variables in the model, with consideration of productivity spillovers from public investment in domestic sectors (percentage-point changes compared to base-run growth rates)

Source: DCGE model results

# Comparing Strategies: The Oil Fund will Provide Revenues Long after Oil Resources are Depleted

Figure 2 summarizes the difference in oil-related revenues between a situation with and without an oil fund. We compare the simulation results with the base run and show the deviations in terms of real GDP adjusted for interest income from the oil fund on the basis of an interest rate held constant at 5 percent. This comparison shows that the loss in terms of income between scenario 1 and scenarios 2 or 3 is modest. For scenario 2, GDP plus interest is about 1.5 (1.2) percent lower in 2013 (2027), indicating that the gap closes over time. For scenario 3, in which oil revenues worth about 5 percent of GDP are allocated to each year's fiscal budget, the gap is even smaller and accounts for only 0.2 percent in 2027. For scenario 4, in which oil-revenue spending is smoothed over time according to two parameters for current spending and for drawing out of the oil fund, the GDP figures adjusted for additional interest income are even larger than in scenario 1. Given that the oil fund allows the country to continue to enjoy the income generated from oil even after the end of the oil era, this scenario appears to be the best option for long-run growth and stability.





Source: Authors' calculation from Appendix Table A.4

## 5. SPENDING VERSUS SAVING OIL REVENUES: CONCLUDING REMARKS

This paper has examined the potential trade-offs between spending and saving oil revenues in terms of growth, income distribution, and stability in Ghana. Consistent with the empirical evidence on the Dutch disease effects characteristic of resource booms, we found that in a scenario in which all oil revenues are spent as they flow in, the growth effect is largest in the short run. However, this short-term advantage declines over time and comes at the cost of significant negative effects for nonmineral export sector performance and rural households. We have therefore considered several other oil revenue allocation options. We show that over the long run the differences between spending- and saving-based allocation options are relatively small, as interest earned from the oil fund can be used to finance investments in the long run. Taking this longer-run perspective, a big push strategy appears even less promising given its relatively modest longer-term growth impacts compared to oil fund options. Smoothing oil revenue allocations into the fiscal budget by saving part of the inflow in an oil fund appears to be the preferred option: results show that it is preferable not only for growth and stability but also for equality, mainly because the negative short-run effects on agriculture are significantly moderated. Yet, in all scenarios, agriculture and rural areas tend to grow less relative to nonagricultural sectors and urban areas, suggesting that more targeted investments are needed to accelerate rural income growth. Results indicate that using oil revenues to increase agricultural productivity and improve rural competitiveness has the potential to offset the Dutch disease effects and make an important contribution to economywide growth.

These positive impacts of an oil-fund-based allocation rule might yet be underestimated. Establishing an oil fund implies the accumulation of assets, which are available to the budget in the postoil era after 2027. For example, in the extreme case of scenario 2, in which all oil revenues are saved, the size of the oil fund will be equivalent to the level of GDP by 2027 (assuming average oil prices of US\$80 per barrel). Income from interest earned from this fund will be about 4.85 percent of GDP (assuming a 5 percent interest rate). Even with the more moderate accumulation in scenarios 3 and 4, incomes generated from the oil fund will still be considerable, amounting to about 2.3 and 0.7 percent of GDP, respectively. Hence, with an oil fund, oil revenues will make a substantial contribution to government revenues in the long run (see Appendix Table A.4).

The creation of an oil fund can also help smooth global commodity price shocks. This function of an oil fund is especially important for countries like Ghana, which have a relatively high exposure to world market price volatility due to their relatively low level of export diversification and high import intensity for capital goods. The recent and ongoing global food, fuel, and financial crisis and the associated extreme volatility in world commodity prices further underline the importance of establishing an oil fund to cope with future shocks. The fact that we did not consider this additional positive effect in this paper suggests that the estimated positive effects of an oil-fund-based allocation rule might be even greater.

Reaping the benefits of an oil-fund-based allocation rule will require improved government capacity in managing macroeconomic policies. Moreover, oil revenues are likely to challenge the country's government in terms of addressing inefficiencies and the corruption often associated with resource rents. Clear and transparent rules will be needed to guide future revenues from interest and the allocation of spending. This paper has provided an example of how such a rule can be designed to further strengthen Ghana's position as a frontrunner in African development.

# **APPENDIX A**

Sector	VAshr	PRDshr	EMPshr	EXPshr	EXP- OUTshr	IMPshr	IMP- DEMshr
Domestic agriculture	23.5	19.5	15.8			6.6	11.3
Export agriculture	9.9	8.2	8.1	42.2	79.6		
Mining	8.7	7.3	4.3	44.3	96.2		
Manufacturing	10.0	14.7	13.0			76.9	63.1
Industry	4.1	9.1	3.2			16.4	34.8
Construction	10.6	7.8	11.2				
Private services	20.2	25.8	26.4	13.5	8.3		
Public services	13.0	7.5	18.1				
TOTAL-2	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	15.7	100.0	27.8
Total agriculture	33.3	27.8	23.8	42.2	23.6	6.6	10.5
Total nonagriculture	66.7	72.2	76.2	57.8	12.7	93.4	32.3
TOTAL	100.0	100.0	100.0	100.0	15.7	100.0	27.8

Table A.1. Economic structure in the base year, Ghana, 2007

Source: Appendix Table A.2 and DCGE model results Notes:

VAshr: Sector share of total value-added

PRDshr: Sector share of total production

EMPshr: Sector share of total labor income

EXPshr: Sector share of total export revenues

EXP-OUTshr: Share of exports in output

IMPshr: Sector share of total imports

IMP-DEMshr: Share of imports in sectoral absorption

1 able A.2. 200	J/ Ghana SAM
-----------------	--------------

	aagrd	aagre	amine	amanu	aindu	u acc	ons a	iprvs a	apubs	cagrd c	agre	cmine	cmanu	cindu	ccons	cprvs	сри	bs la	) Ca	ap la	and	hrur	hurb	gov	dtax	sta	ax m	tax	etax	s-i	row	tota	al I
aagrd										4,773																							4,773
aagre											2,021																						2,021
amine												1,706																					1,706
amanu													3,512	2																			3,512
aindu														2,235																			2,235
acons															1,9	)1																	1,901
aprvs																6,	879																6,879
apubs																		1,859															1,859
cagrd	54	5		4	84			114														2,465	1,79	0								179	5,577
cagre		2	60	2	324			11																								1,657	2,054
cmine					13		55																									1,638	1,706
cmanu	22	33	45 3	31 8	38	553	412	531	37													2,497	3,07	2						1	,920	673	11,132
cindu	4	3	12 1	97 4	43	937	25	1,458	23													446	66	5									4,248
ccons						49		42																						1	,813		1,904
cprvs	99	23	48 1	25 4	75	184	68	1,945	132	29			317	53			399					658	1,35	3								964	8,041
cpubs																						33	3	5 1	,791								1,859
lab	1,06	15	46 2	73 8	847	212	751	1,932	1,238																								6,860
сар	17	0 1	63 7	79 3	887	300	591	847	428																								3,667
land	1,73	75	44																														2,282
hrur																			1,156	2,095	2,282	2			564							410	6,508
hurb																			5,704	1,571					872							1,656	9,803
thh																						-535	53	5									0
gov																										1,252	1,575	775	3	4		1,303	4,939
dtax																							1,25	52									1,252
stax													515	5 708		3	349																1,575
mtax										130			640	) 5																			775
etax											34																						34
s-i																						944	1,10	)1 1	,594							93	3,733
row										645			6,149	1,247			415								118								8,574
total	4,77	3 2,0	21 1,7	06 3,5	512	2,235	1,901	6,879	1,859	5,577	2,054	1,706	11,132	2 4,248	1,9	)4 8,	041	1,859	6,860	3,667	2,282	2 6,508	9,80	3 4	l,939	1,252	1,575	775	3	4 3	3,733	8,574 3	34,218

Notes: Activities: domestic agriculture, export agriculture, mining, manufacturing, utilities, construction, private services, public services; commodities: domestic agriculture, export agriculture, mining, manufacturing, utilities, construction, private services; factors: labor, land, capital; households: rural, urban, inter-household transfers (thh); taxes: direct taxes, sales taxes, import taxes; S-I: savings and investment; ROW: rest of the world

	hrur	hurb
	Average expenditure sh	ares (percent)
cagrd	0.404	0.259
cmanu	0.409	0.444
cindu	0.073	0.096
eprvs	0.108	0.196
cpubs	0.005	0.005
Fotal	1.000	1.000
	Income elasticities of de	emand
	0.9	0.9

Table A.3. Expenditure shares and elasticities by household groups

Source: See text

Table A.4. Growth vs. accumulation:	<b>Deviation of GDP</b>	and oil fund from	base run (100 mil	llion
cedis in constant 2007 prices)				

	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2021	2027
GDP							
Oil1	1.69	3.30	5.73	7.94	10.31	32.73	63.25
Oil2	0.15	0.34	0.65	1.10	1.69	11.01	30.16
Oil3	1.16	1.93	2.87	3.99	5.30	21.28	49.18
Oil4	1.06	2.18	3.93	5.70	7.71	29.02	59.93
Oil Fund							
Oil1	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00	0.00
Oil2	6.95	23.53	47.04	74.86	102.75	297.95	465.27
Oil3	2.49	9.96	23.94	41.79	59.23	165.74	228.30
Oil4	2.95	9.56	18.12	27.22	34.99	64.90	73.69
GDP + Interest							
Oil1	1.69	3.30	5.73	7.94	10.31	32.73	63.25
Oil2	0.50	1.52	3.00	4.84	6.83	25.91	53.42
Oil3	1.28	2.43	4.07	6.08	8.26	29.57	60.60
Oil4	1.21	2.66	4.84	7.06	9.46	32.27	63.61

Source: DCGE model results

# **APPENDIX B**

Symbol	Explanation	Symbol	Explanation
Sets			
$a \in A$	Activities	$c \in CEN(\subset C)$	Commodities not in CE
$a \in ALEO(\subset A)$	Activities with a Leontief function at the top of the technology nest	$c \in CM (\subset C)$	Aggregate imported commodities
$c \in C$	Commodities	$c \in CMN (\subset C)$	Commodities not in CM
$c \in CD(\subset C)$	Commodities with domestic sales of domestic output	$c \in CX (\subset C)$	Commodities with domestic production
$c \in CDN(\subset C)$	Commodities not in CD	$f \in F$	Factors
$c \in CE(\subset C)$	Exported commodities	$h \in H(\subset INSDNG)$	Households
Equation parameters	3		
cpi	Consumer price index	mps01 <sub>i</sub>	0-1 parameter with 1 for institutions with potentially
<i>cwts</i> <sub>c</sub>	Weight of commodity c in the CPI	pwe <sub>c</sub>	flexed direct tax rates Export price (foreign currency)
ica <sub>ca</sub>	Quantity of c as intermediate input per unit of activity a	shif <sub>if</sub>	Share for domestic institution i in income of factor f
icd <sub>cc'</sub>	Quantity of commodity c as trade input per unit of c' produced and sold domestically	shii <sub>ii'</sub>	Share of net income of i' to i (i' $\in$ INSDNG'; i $\in$ INSDNG)
ice <sub>cc'</sub>	Quantity of commodity c as trade input per exported unit of c'	ta <sub>a</sub>	Tax rate for activity a
icm <sub>cc'</sub>	Quantity of commodity c as trade input per imported unit of c'	tins <sub>i</sub>	Exogenous direct tax rate for domestic institution i
inta <sub>a</sub>	Quantity of aggregate intermediate input per activity	tins01 <sub>i</sub>	0-1 parameter with 1 for institutions with potentially flowed direct tex rates
iva <sub>a</sub>	Quantity of aggregate intermediate input per activity unit	tm <sub>c</sub>	Import tariff rate
mps <sub>i</sub>	Base savings rate for domestic institution i	tq <sub>c</sub>	Rate of sales tax

Table B.1. Mathematic presentation of DCGE model: sets, parameters, and variables

Table B.2. (Continued)

Symbol	Explanation	Symbol	Explanation
Equation para	ameters, continued		
$\alpha^a_a$	Efficiency parameter in the CES activity function	$\delta^{\scriptscriptstyle t}_{\scriptscriptstyle cr}$	CET function share parameter
$lpha_a^{va}$	Efficiency parameter in the CES value- added function	${\cal \delta}^{\scriptscriptstyle va}_{\scriptscriptstyle fa}$	CES value-added function share parameter for factor f in activity a
$lpha_{c}^{ac}$	Shift parameter for domestic commodity aggregation function	$\gamma^m_{ch}$	Subsistence consumption of marketed commodity c for household h
$lpha_c^q$	Armington function shift parameter	$ heta_{ac}$	Yield of output c per unit of activity a
$lpha_{c}^{t}$	CET function shift parameter	$ ho_a^a$	CES production function exponent
$\beta^{a}$	Capital sectoral mobility factor	$ ho_a^{\scriptscriptstyle va}$	CES value-added function exponent
$eta^m_{ch}$	Marginal share of consumption spending on marketed commodity c for household h	$ ho_c^{ac}$	Domestic commodity aggregation function exponent
$\delta^a_a$	CES activity function share parameter	$ ho_c^q$	Armington function exponent
$\delta^{\scriptscriptstyle ac}_{\scriptscriptstyle ac}$	Share parameter for domestic commodity	$ ho_c^t$	CET function exponent
$\delta^q_{cr}$	Armington function share parameter	$\eta^a_{{}_{fat}}$	Sector share of new capital
$v_{f}$	Capital depreciation rate		
Exogenous v	ariables		
fsav	Foreign savings (FCU)	$qg_c$	Government consumption demand for commodity
mps <sub>i</sub>	Marginal propensity to save for domestic nongovernment institution (exogenous variable)	qinv <sub>c</sub>	Base-year quantity of private investment demand
$pwm_c$	Import price (foreign currency)	trnsfr <sub>i f</sub>	Transfer from factor f to institution i
$qdst_c$	Quantity of stock change	wfdist <sub>fa</sub>	Wage distortion factor for factor f in activity a
$qfs_f$	Quantity supplied of factor		
Endogenous	variables		
$AWF_{ft}^{a}$	Average capital rental rate in time period t	$QINTA_a$	Quantity of aggregate intermediate input
IADJ	Investment adjustment factor	$QINT_{ca}$	Quantity of commodity c as intermediate input to activity a
EG	Government expenditures	$QINV_c$	Quantity of investment demand for commodity
$EH_h$	Consumption spending for household	$QM_{cr}$	Quantity of imports of commodity c
EXR	Exchange rate (LCU per unit of FCU)	$PA_a$	Activity price (unit gross revenue)
GSAV	Government savings	$PD_{c}$	Demand price for commodity produced and sold domestically
$QF_{fa}$	Quantity demanded of factor f from activity a	PE <sub>cr</sub>	Export price (domestic currency)
$QH_{ch}$	Quantity consumed of commodity c by household h	PINTA <sub>a</sub>	Aggregate intermediate input price for activity a
QHA <sub>ach</sub>	Quantity of household home consumption of commodity c from activity a for household h	$PK_{fi}$	Unit price of capital in time period t

	Table B.2.	(Continue	d)
--	------------	-----------	----

Symbol	Explanation	Symbol	Explanation
Endogenous	variables, continued		
PM <sub>cr</sub>	Import price (domestic currency)	$QX_c$	Aggregated quantity of domestic output of commodity
$PQ_c$	Composite commodity price	$QXAC_{ac}$	Quantity of output of commodity c from activity a
$PVA_a$	Value-added price (factor income per unit of activity)	TRII <sub>ii'</sub>	Transfers from institution i' to i (both in the set INSDNG)
$PX_{c}$	Aggregate producer price for commodity	$W\!F_f$	Average price of factor
$PXAC_{ac}$	Producer price of commodity c for activity a	$YF_{f}$	Income of factor f
$QA_a$	Quantity (level) of activity	YG	Government revenue
$QD_c$	Quantity sold domestically of domestic output	$YI_i$	Income of domestic nongovernment institution
$QE_{cr}$	Quantity exported of domestic output	$YIF_{if}$	Income to domestic institution i from factor f
$QQ_c$	Quantity of goods supplied to domestic market (composite supply)	$K^a_{fat}$	Quantity of new capital by activity a for time period t
$QVA_a$	Quantity of (aggregate) value-added		

Table B.3. Mathematical presentation of DCGE model: model equations

Production and price equations

$$QINT_{c a} = ica_{c a} \cdot QINTA_{a}$$
(1)  

$$PINTA_{a} = \sum_{c \in C} PQ_{c} \cdot ica_{c a}$$
(2)

$$QVA_{a} = \alpha_{a}^{va} \cdot \left(\sum_{f \in F} \delta_{fa}^{va} \cdot \left(\alpha_{fa}^{vaf} \cdot QF_{fa}\right)^{-\rho_{a}^{va}}\right)^{-\frac{1}{\rho_{a}^{va}}}$$
(3)

$$W_{f} \cdot \overline{WFDIST}_{fa} = PVA_{a} \cdot QVA_{a} \cdot \left(\sum_{f \in F'} \delta_{fa}^{va} \cdot \left(\alpha_{fa}^{vaf} \cdot QF_{fa}\right)^{-\rho_{a}^{va}}\right)^{-1} \cdot \delta_{fa}^{va} \cdot \left(\alpha_{fa}^{vaf}\right)^{-\rho_{a}^{va}} \cdot \left(QF_{fa}\right)^{-\rho_{a}^{va}-1}$$
(4)

$$QVA_a = iva_a \cdot QA_a \tag{5}$$

$$QINTA_{a} = inta_{a} \cdot QA_{a}$$

$$PA \cdot (1 - ta) \cdot QA = PVA \cdot QVA + PINTA \cdot QINTA$$
(6)
(7)

$$QXAC_{ac} = \theta_{ac} \cdot QA_a$$
(8)

$$PA_a = \sum_{c \in C} PXAC_{ac} \cdot \theta_{ac}$$
(9)

$$QX_{c} = \alpha_{c}^{ac} \cdot \left(\sum_{a \in A} \delta_{ac}^{ac} \cdot QXAC_{ac}^{-\rho_{c}^{ac}}\right)^{-\frac{1}{\rho_{c}^{ac}-1}}$$
(10)

$$PXAC_{ac} = PX_{c} \cdot QX_{c} \left( \sum_{a \in A'} \delta^{ac}_{ac} \cdot QXAC^{-\rho^{ac}_{c}}_{ac} \right)^{-1} \cdot \delta^{ac}_{ac} \cdot QXAC^{-\rho^{ac}_{c}-1}_{ac}$$
(11)

$$PE_{cr} = pwe_{cr} \cdot EXR - \sum_{c' \in CT} PQ_c \cdot ice_{c'c}$$
(12)

$$QX_{c} = \alpha_{c}^{t} \cdot \left(\sum_{r} \delta_{cr}^{t} \cdot QE_{cr}^{\rho_{c}^{t}} + (1 - \sum_{r} \delta_{cr}^{t}) \cdot QD_{c}^{\rho_{c}^{t}}\right)^{\frac{1}{\rho_{c}^{t}}}$$
(13)

$$\frac{QE_{cr}}{QD_{c}} = \left(\frac{PE_{cr}}{PD_{c}} \cdot \frac{1 - \sum_{r} \delta_{cr}^{t}}{\delta_{c}^{t}}\right)^{\frac{1}{\rho_{c}^{t}-1}}$$
(14)

$$QX_c = QD_c + \sum_r QE_{cr}$$
<sup>(15)</sup>

$$PX_c \cdot QX_c = PD_c \cdot QD_c + \sum_r PE_{cr} \cdot QE_{cr}$$
(16)

$$PM_{cr} = pwm_{cr} \cdot (1+tm_{cr}) \cdot EXR + \sum_{c' \in CT} PQ_{c'} \cdot icm_{c'c}$$

$$(17)$$

$$QQ_{c} = \alpha_{c}^{q} \cdot \left(\sum_{r} \delta_{cr}^{q} \cdot QM_{cr}^{\rho_{c}^{q}} + (1 - \sum_{r} \delta_{cr}^{q}) \cdot QD_{c}^{\rho_{c}^{q}}\right)^{\frac{1}{\rho_{c}^{q}}}$$
(18)

$$\frac{QM_{cr}}{QD_{c}} = \left(\frac{PD_{c}}{PM_{c}} \cdot \frac{\delta_{c}^{q}}{1 - \sum_{r} \delta_{cr}^{q}}\right)^{\frac{1}{1 + \rho_{c}^{q}}}$$
(19)

$$QQ_c = QD_c + \sum_r QM_{cr}$$
<sup>(20)</sup>

$$PQ_{c} \cdot (1 - tq_{c}) \cdot QQ_{c} = PD_{c} \cdot QD_{c} + \sum_{r} PM_{cr} \cdot QM_{cr}$$
(21)

$$cpi = \sum_{c \in C} PQ_c \cdot cwts_c \tag{22}$$

Institutional incomes and domestic demand equations

$$YF_f = \sum_{a \in A} WF_f \cdot wfdist_{fa} \cdot QF_{fa}$$
<sup>(23)</sup>

$$YIF_{if} = shif_{if} \cdot YF_f \tag{24}$$

$$YI_{i} = \sum_{f \in F} YIF_{if} + \sum_{i' \in INSDNG'} TRII_{ii'} + trnsfr_{igov} \cdot cpi + trnsfr_{irow} \cdot EXR$$
(25)

$$TRII_{ii'} = shii_{ii'} \cdot (1 - mps_{i'}) \cdot (1 - tins_{i'}) \cdot YI_{i'}$$
(26)

$$EH_{h} = \left(1 - \sum_{i \in INSDNG} shii_{ih}\right) \cdot \left(1 - mps_{h}\right) \cdot (1 - tins_{h}) \cdot YI_{h}$$

$$\tag{27}$$

$$PQ_{c} \cdot QH_{ch} = PQ_{c} \cdot \gamma_{ch}^{m} + \beta_{ch}^{m} \cdot \left(EH_{h} - \sum_{c' \in C} PQ_{c'} \cdot \gamma_{c'h}^{m}\right)$$
(28)

$$QINV_c = IADJ \cdot qinv_c \tag{29}$$

$$EG = \sum_{c \in C} PQ_c \cdot qg_c + \sum_{i \in INSDNG} trnsfr_{i \, gov} \cdot cpi$$
(30)

$$YG = \sum_{i \in INSDNG} tins_i \cdot YI_i + \sum_{c \in CMNR} tm_c \cdot pwm_c \cdot QM_c \cdot EXR + \sum_{c \in C} tq_c \cdot PQ_c \cdot QQ_c$$

$$(31)$$

$$+\sum_{f\in F} YF_{gov f} + trnsfr_{gov row} \cdot EXR$$

System constraints and macroeconomic closures

$$QQ_{c} = \sum_{a \in A} QINT_{ca} + \sum_{h \in H} QH_{ch} + qg_{c} + QINV_{c} + qdst_{c}$$
(32)

$$\sum_{a \in A} QF_{fa} = QFS_f \tag{33}$$

$$YG = EG + GSAV \tag{34}$$

$$\sum_{r \ c \in CMNR} pwm_{cr} \cdot QM_{cr} = \sum_{r \ c \in CENR} pwe_{cr} \cdot QE_{cr} + \sum_{i \in INSD} trnsfr_{i \ row} + fsav$$
(35)

$$\sum_{i \in INSDNG} mps_i \cdot \left(1 - \overline{tins}_i\right) \cdot YI_i + GSAV + EXR \cdot fsav = \sum_{c \in C} PQ_c \cdot QINV_c + \sum_{c \in C} PQ_c \cdot qdst_c$$
(36)

# Table B.3. (Continued)

Factor accumulation and allocation equations (applies to capital only)  $\Gamma$ 

$$AWF_{ft}^{a} = \sum_{a} \left[ \left( \frac{QF_{fat}}{\sum_{a'} QF_{fa't}} \right) \cdot WF_{ft} \cdot wfdist_{fat} \right]$$
(37)

$$\eta_{fat}^{a} = \left(\frac{QF_{fat}}{\sum_{a'}QF_{fa't}}\right) \cdot \left(\beta^{a} \cdot \left(\frac{WF_{f,t} \cdot wfdist_{fat}}{AWF_{ft}^{a}} - 1\right) + 1\right)$$
(38)

$$\Delta K_{fat}^{a} = \eta_{fat}^{a} \cdot \left( \frac{\sum_{c} PQ_{ct} \cdot qinv_{ct}}{PK_{ft}} \right)$$
(39)

$$PK_{ft} = \sum_{c} PQ_{ct} \cdot \frac{qinv_{ct}}{\sum_{c'} qinv_{c't}}$$

$$(40)$$

$$QF_{fat+I} = QF_{fat} \cdot \left(1 + \frac{\Delta K_{fat}^a}{QF_{fat}} - \upsilon_f\right)$$
(41)

$$QFS_{ft+1} = QFS_{ft} \cdot \left(1 + \frac{\sum_{a} K_{fat}}{QFS_{ft}} - \upsilon_f\right)$$
(42)

#### REFERENCES

- Adam, C., S. O'Connell, E. Buffie, and C. Pattillo. 2008. Monetary policy rules for managing aid surges in Africa. UNU-WIDER Research Paper 2008.77. Helsinki: United Nations University–World Institute for Development Economics Research.
- Agyeman Duah, I., W. Soyinka, and C. Kelly. 2008. An economic history of Ghana: Reflections on a half-century of challenges and progress. Banbury, UK: Ayebia Clarke Publishing Ltd.
- Aryeetey, E., and R. Kanbur. 2008. Ghana's economy at half century: An overview of stability, growth and poverty. In *The economy of Ghana: Analytical perspectives on stability, growth and poverty*, ed. E. Aryeetey and R. Kanbur. Woodbridge, UK: James Currey.
- Auty, R.M. 1990. *Resource-based industrialization: Sowing the oil in 8 developing countries*. Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Bank of Ghana. 2007. A framework for the management of oil resources in Ghana: Issues and proposals. Bank of Ghana Policy Briefing Paper. Accra, Ghana: Bank of Ghana.
  - —. 2008. Fiscal rules and fiscal discipline: What can Ghana learn from country experiences. Bank of Ghana Policy Briefing Paper. Accra, Ghana: Bank of Ghana.
- Breisinger, C., and X. Diao. 2009. Economic transformation in theory and practice: What are the messages for Africa? In *Current Politics and Economics of Africa* 1 (3/4). Nova Science Publishers.
- Breisinger, C., X. Diao, R Schweickert, and M. Wiebelt. 2009. Managing future oil revenues in Ghana: An assessment of alternative allocation options. Kiel Working Paper 1518. Kiel, Germany: Kiel Institute for the World Economy.
- Breisinger, C., X. Diao, and J. Thurlow. 2009. Modeling growth options and structural change to reach middle income country status: The case of Ghana. *Economic Modeling* 26:514–525.
- Breisinger C., X. Diao, J. Thurlow, and R. Al Hassan. 2008. *Agriculture for development in Ghana: New opportunities and challenges*. IFPRI Discussion Paper 784. Washington, D.C.: International Food Policy Research Institute.
- Brunnschweiler, C.N. 2008. Cursing the blessings? Natural resource abundance, institutions, and economic growth. *World Development* 36 (3): 399–419.
- Bulte, E.H., R. Damania, and R.T. Deacon. 2005. Resource intensity, institutions, and development. *World Development* 33 (7): 1029–1044.
- Collier, P. 2006. African growth: Why a big push? *Journal of African Economies* 00 (AERC Supplement 2): 188–211.
- Collier, P., and J.W. Gunning. 1998a. *Trade shocks in developing countries*. Vol. 1, *Africa*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- ———. 1998b. *Trade shocks in developing countries*. Vol. 2, *Asia and Latin America*. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Dervis, K., J. de Melo, and S. Robinson. 1982. *General equilibrium models for development policy*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Economist Intelligence Unit. 2009. Country report Ghana. London: Economist Intelligence Unit.
- Eifert, B., A. Gelb, and N. Tallroth. 2002. The *political economy of fiscal policies and economic management in oil exporting countries*. World Bank Policy Research Paper 2899. Washington, D.C.: World Bank.
- EIU. See Economist Intelligence Unit.
- Gelb, A.H., and Associates. 1988. Windfall gains: Blessing or curse? New York: Oxford University Press.
- Gelb, A., and S. Grassman. 2008. *Confronting the oil curse*. Draft paper for AFD/EUDN Conference, November 12, 2008.

- Gelb, A., and G. Turner. 2007. Confronting the resource curse: Lessons of experience for African oil producers. Washington, D.C.: World Bank.
- Gylfason, T. 2007. Natural resources and growth. CESIfo Working Paper 1994. Munich: CESifo.
- Gylfason, T., and P. Gylfason. 2005. Natural resources and economic growth: From dependence to diversification. In *Economic liberalization and integration policy: Options for Europe and Russia*, ed. H.G. Broadman, T. Paas, and J.J. Welfens. Berlin: Springer.
- Gylfason, T., T.T. Herbertsson, and G. Zoega. 1999. A mixed blessing: Natural resources and economic growth. *Macroeconomic Dynamics* 3:204–225.
- Hulten, C. 1996. *Infrastructure capital and economic growth: How well you use it may be more important than how much you have.* NBER Working Paper 5847. Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.
- IFPRI. See International Food Policy Research Institute.

IMF. See International Monetary Fund.

- International Food Policy Research Institute. 2007. *Ghana: Social Accounting Matrix (SAM)*, 2005, ed. C. Breisinger, J. Thurlow, and M. Duncan. IFPRI data set and documentation. http://www.ifpri.org/data/ghana03.asp.
- International Monetary Fund. 2008. *Ghana: Country Report No. 08/344*. Washington, D.C.: International Monetary Fund.
- Kaufmann, D., A. Kraay, and M. Mastruzzi. 2008. *Governance Matters VII: Governance indicators for 1996–2007*. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 4280. Washington, D.C.: World Bank.
- Larsen, E.R. 2006. Escaping the resource curse and the Dutch disease? When and why Norway caught up with and forged ahead of its neighbours. *American Journal of Economics and Sociology* 65 (3): 605–640.
- Lofgren, H., R.L. Harris, and S. Robinson. 2002. A standard computable general equilibrium (CGE) model in GAMS. *Microcomputers in Policy Research* 5. Washington, D.C.: International Food Policy Research Institute.
- Matsen, E., and R. Torvik. 2005. Optimal Dutch disease. Journal of Development Economics 78 (2): 494-515.
- National Development Planning Commission. 2005. Growth and Poverty Reduction Strategy (GPRS II) 2006–2009. Accra, Ghana: National Development Planning Commission.
- NDPC. See National Development Planning Commission.
- Osei, R.D., and G. Domfe. 2008. *Oil production in Ghana: Implications for economic development*. Accra, Ghana: Institute of Statistical Social and Economic Research, University of Ghana, ARI 104/2008.
- Rodrik, D., ed. 2003. *In search of prosperity: Analytic narratives on economic growth*. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Syrquin, M. 1988. Patterns of structural change. In *Handbook of Development Economics*, vol. 1, ed. H. Chenery and T.N. Srinivasan. New York: Elsevier.
- Temple, J. 2003. Growing into trouble: Indonesia after 1966. *In search of prosperity Analytical narratives on economic growth*, ed. D. Rodrik. Princeton, NJ, USA: Princeton University Press.
- Thurlow, J. 2004. A dynamic computable general equilibrium (CGE) model for South Africa: Extending the static IFPRI model. TIPS Working Paper 1-2004. Pretoria, South Africa: Trade and Industrial Policy Strategies.
- Van der Ploeg, F. 2006. *Challenges and opportunities for resource rich economies*. CEPR Discussion Paper No. 5688. London: Centre for Economic Policy Research.
- World Bank. 2008a. Meeting the challenge of accelerated and shared growth. Ghana's growth and poverty reduction story: How to accelerate growth and achieve MDGs? A Synthesis of the Ghana CEM. Washington, D.C.: World Bank.
  - . 2008b. Ghana: Country brief. Washington, D.C.: World Bank.

### **RECENT IFPRI DISCUSSION PAPERS**

#### For earlier discussion papers, please go to www.ifpri.org/pubs/pubs.htm#dp. All discussion papers can be downloaded free of charge.

- 892. Impact of water user associations on agricultural productivity in Chile. Nancy McCarthy and Tim Essam, 2009.
- 891. China's growth and the agricultural exports of southern Africa. Nelson Villoria, Thomas Hertel, and Alejandro Nin-Pratt, 2009.
- 890. The impact of climate variability and change on economic growth and poverty in Zambia. James Thurlow, Tingju Zhu, and Xinshen Diao, 2009.
- 889. *Navigating the perfect storm: Reflections on the food, energy, and financial crises.* Derek Headey, Sangeetha Malaiyandi, and Shenggen Fan, 2009.
- 888. How important is a regional free trade area for southern Africa? Potential impacts and structural constraints. Alejandro Nin Pratt, Xinshen Diao, and Yonas Bahta, 2009.
- 887. Determinant of smallholder farmer labor allocation decisions in Uganda. Fred Bagamba, Kees Burger, and Arie Kuyvenhoven, 2009.
- 886. The potential cost of a failed Doha Round. Antoine Bouët and David Laborde, 2009.
- 885. *Mapping South African farming sector vulnerability to climate change and variability: A subnational assessment.* Glwadys Aymone Gbetibouo and Claudia Ringler, 2009.
- 884. How does food price increase affect Ugandan households? An augmented multimarket approach. John M. Ulimwengu and Racha Ramadan, 2009.
- 883. *Linking urban consumers and rural farmers in India: A comparison of traditional and modern food supply chains.* Bart Minten, Thomas Reardon, and Anneleen Vandeplas, 2009.
- 882. Promising Approaches to Address the Needs of Poor Female Farmers: Resources, Constraints, and Interventions. Agnes R. Quisumbing and Lauren Pandolfelli, 2009.
- 881. Natural Disasters, Self-Insurance, and Human Capital Investment: Evidence from Bangladesh, Ethiopia, and Malawi. Futoshi Yamauchi, Yisehac Yohannes, and Agnes Quisumbing, 2009.
- 880. Risks, ex-ante actions, and public assistance: Impacts of natural disasters on child schooling in Bangladesh, Ethiopia, and Malawi. Futoshi Yamauchi, Yisehac Yohannes, and Agnes Quisumbing, 2009.
- 879. Measuring child labor: Comparisons between hours data and subjective measures. Andrew Dillon, 2009.
- 878. The effects of political reservations for women on local governance and rural service provision: Survey evidence from Karnataka. Katharina Raabe, Madhushree Sekher, and Regina Birner, 2009.
- 877. Why is the Doha development agenda failing? And what can be Done? A computable general equilibrium-game theoretical approach. Antoine Bouët and David Laborde, 2009.
- 876. Priorities for realizing the potential to increase agricultural productivity and growth in Western and Central Africa. Alejandro Nin-Pratt, Michael Johnson, Eduardo Magalhaes, Xinshen Diao, Liang You, and Jordan Chamberlin, 2009.
- 875. *Rethinking China's underurbanization: An evaluation of Its county-to-city upgrading policy.* Shenggen Fan, Lixing Li, and Xiaobo Zhang, 2009.
- 874. Agricultural trade liberalization and poverty in Brazil. Joachim Bento de Souza Ferreira Filho, 2009.
- 873. *Economywide impacts of climate change on agriculture in Sub-Saharan Africa*. Alvaro Calzadilla, Tingju Zhu, Katrin Rehdanz, Richard S.J. Tol, and Claudia Ringler, 2009.
- 872. Decentralization and local public services in Ghana: Do geography and ethnic diversity matter? Kamiljon T. Akramov and Felix Asante, 2009.

#### INTERNATIONAL FOOD POLICY RESEARCH INSTITUTE

#### www.ifpri.org

IFPRI HEADQUARTERS 2033 K Street, NW Washington, DC 20006-1002 USA Tel.: +1-202-862-5600 Fax: +1-202-467-4439 Email: ifpri@cgiar.org

#### IFPRI ADDIS ABABA

P. O. Box 5689 Addis Ababa, Ethiopia Tel.: +251 11 6463215 Fax: +251 11 6462927 Email: ifpri-addisababa@cgiar.org

#### IFPRI NEW DELHI

CG Block, NASC Complex, PUSA New Delhi 110-012 India Tel.: 91 11 2584-6565 Fax: 91 11 2584-8008 / 2584-6572 Email: ifpri-newdelhi@cgiar.org